

IET COUNCIL REGULATIONS

(Revised 3 November 2016)

Purpose

1. These Council Regulations relate to the membership, management and business conduct of the IET Council. Terms used but not defined in these Regulations shall bear the same respective meanings as in the Bye-laws unless the context requires otherwise.

Royal Charter and Bye-laws

2. The terms of reference of Council are stated in the Royal Charter and Bye-laws – predominantly Charter Article 9A and Bye-law 91. The Council Regulations are subordinate to the Royal Charter and Bye-laws.

Changes to Council Regulations

3. Changes to the Council Regulations may be made by a simple majority vote at a Council meeting and approval by the Board¹. Changes can also be made by a resolution passed at a General Meeting.
4. If the Board rejects a request by Council to change the Council Regulations, and the Council does not accept this decision, the matter may be resolved by discussion with the Board before the next Council meeting. If agreement is not reached the request may be put to a General Meeting.

Approval of Council Regulations

5. The Council Regulations were proposed by the Council on 17 May 2007 and approved by the Board on 11 June 2007. Amendments were approved by the Board on 9 June 2008, 1 October 2012, 9 March 2015, 7 September 2015, by a Special General Meeting on 11 February 2016 and by the Board on 3 November 2016.

Purpose of IET Council

6. The role and responsibility of Council are defined in Charter clause 9A and Bye-law 91. Its relationship with the Board is defined in Bye-laws 92-93.
7. Each year, Council will review and contribute to the IET's Strategic and Corporate Plans. It will also review and note the IET's Annual Report and Accounts. Council will provide its own Annual Report to the IET's Annual General Meeting.
8. Council will monitor the governance of the IET and will determine the most appropriate method of undertaking such monitoring, using external assistance if reasonably required. In the spirit of continuous improvement, Council should engage with the Board in establishing the methodology for review and it may seek clarification on issues from the Board.

¹ The Board of Trustees, as defined by Bye-law 3.

Composition

- 9. Council will comprise 27 Ordinary Members and the President.
- 10. The term of office will be three years and one third of members will retire each year. Two-thirds of the Ordinary Members will be elected by the membership of the IET and one-third of the Ordinary Members will be appointed by the Board from amongst the members of the IET to support the skills base needed by Council and to reflect, to the extent practicable, a broad representation of the profession and its interests. Of the members of Council to retire each year, one third shall be those appointed by the Board and two thirds shall be those elected by the membership of the IET. Those members of Council to retire shall be those who were not re-elected or reappointed to Council for one of the preceding two sessions.
- 11. Council shall include either:
 - (a) at least three Ordinary Members aged less than 36 years at the commencement of their period of office who are resident in the United Kingdom and at least three Ordinary Members who are resident outside the United Kingdom; or
 - (b) at least two Ordinary Members aged less than 36 years at the commencement of their term of office who are resident in the United Kingdom and at least three Ordinary Members who are resident outside the United Kingdom one of whom must be aged less than 36 years at the commencement of period term of office; or
 - (c) at least one Ordinary Member aged less than 36 years at the commencement of their period of office who is resident in the United Kingdom and at least 3 Ordinary Members who are resident outside the United Kingdom of whom at least two must be aged under the age of less than 36 years at the commencement of period term of office; or
 - (d) at least 3 Ordinary Members who are resident outside the United Kingdom each of whom is aged less than 36 years at the commencement of their period of office.
- 12. An Ordinary Member shall be eligible for re-election or re-appointment for subsequent terms. No person shall be elected or appointed to the office of Ordinary Member more than twice when aged less than 36 years, and no person shall be elected or appointed to the office of Ordinary Member more than twice when aged 36 years or over. No person shall hold the office of Ordinary Member for more than twelve years in total.

Number	Position
18	Ordinary Members (elected)
9	Ordinary Members (appointed)
1	the President

- 13. Membership of Council is open to all categories of IET membership. With the exception of the President, a serving Trustee cannot be a member of Council.
- 14. Save for the President, all other Trustees and Main Board members (who are not Council members) shall be entitled to attend and speak at (but not vote at) meetings of Council.

Election to Council

15. The election of Ordinary Members of Council shall follow the procedure set out for the election of members made under Regulation 16. Membership is open to all categories of IET member. Nominations of members of Council can be made and supported by all categories of IET member. The Board can also nominate candidates for election to Council.
16. Subject to Regulation 15, the election process for those positions on Council which are to be filled by elections shall be in accordance with Regulations made for the purpose from time to time.
17. Any casual vacancy that arises on Council shall be filled by appointment made by the Board following consultation by the Board with the Main Board of which the relevant Council member was a member.

Council Chair

18. The Chair and Deputy Chair of Council will be elected by simple majority vote by the members of Council from their own number. Each will be in post for one year, but the incumbent may stand for re-election for the following year. No Chair or Deputy Chair shall hold their respective office for more than 2 years in succession. The nomination and ballot exercise will be performed before the end of each session of Council. In the absence of the Chair or Deputy Chair of Council, a meeting of Council will be chaired by one of its number elected at that meeting.

Council Meetings

19. The frequency and conduct of Council meetings shall be as decided by the Council from time to time. Council will meet at least three times per year. Where practicable, meetings will be held in the same place and on the same date (but not at the same time) as meetings of the Board.
20. Any member of the Council may validly participate in a meeting of the Council through telephone conference or similar form of communication equipment provided that all persons participating in the meeting are able to hear and speak to each other throughout such meeting. A person so participating shall be deemed to be present in person at the meeting and shall accordingly be counted in a quorum and be entitled to vote. All business transacted in such manner by the Council shall for the purpose of these Council Regulations be deemed to be validly and effectively transacted at a meeting of Council notwithstanding that a quorum of members of Council is not physically present in the same place. If the members of Council cannot or do not decide upon where such a meeting shall be deemed to take place, then it shall be where the chair of the meeting then is located.
21. The agenda for Council meetings will be set by the Council Agenda Team (CAT) consisting of the Chair, the Deputy Chair and two members of Council selected by Council for this purpose to reflect the wishes of Council.

Quorum

22. The quorum is more than half the Council membership.

Main Boards

23. The Ordinary Members of Council will comprise the Ordinary Members of the Main Boards, divided equally (to the extent reasonably possible) between each of the Main Boards. Each Ordinary Member of Council will serve a three-year term as an Ordinary Member of one of the Main Boards.
24. The Ordinary Members of Council are the Ordinary Members of the three Main Boards, being (as at the date of approval of these Council Regulations) the Knowledge Services Board, the Membership and Professional Development Board and the Volunteer Engagement Board. The Board may delegate powers to a Main Board individually in accordance with Bye-law 79 and those powers rest with the relevant Main Board and not Council as a whole. In the event that the number of Main Boards changes after the date of approval of these Council Regulations, the Board shall make such amendments to the number of Ordinary Members of Council who sit on each Main Board as are reasonable to reflect the number of Main Boards then in existence, but always reflecting the principle that that the members of Council shall be split equally between the Main Boards.
25. If a member of Council resigns or is deemed to have resigned from a Main Board under the terms of reference of such Main Board, such member of Council shall also be deemed to have resigned from Council at the same time.

Meeting Attendance

26. To maximise familiarity with and contribution to Council business it is expected that members will regularly attend Council meetings and also contribute to debate between meetings. Any member who has not attended three consecutive meetings without cause (as determined by Council (acting reasonably)) will be deemed to have resigned from Council.

Voting at Council Meetings

27. Decisions of Council shall be made by simple majority vote of those present at the relevant meeting and entitled to vote. For the avoidance of doubt, if a simple majority is not achieved, then the relevant motion shall not have been passed.

Output from Council Meetings

28. Council will report to the Board. Minutes will be placed on the IET website and be accessible in the IET Library.

Committees of Council

29. Council may delegate any of their powers to any committee consisting of one or more members of Council. Any such delegation may be made subject to any conditions Council may impose, and either collaterally with or to the exclusion of their own powers and may be revoked or altered. Subject to any such conditions, the proceedings of a committee with two or more members shall be governed by these Council Regulations regulating the proceedings of Council so far as they are capable of applying.

30. Until the Effective Date², the provisions of the Council Regulations of the Institution in force immediately prior to the coming into force of these Council Regulations (the “Old Regulations”) shall be deemed to form part of these Council Regulations save that, in the case of any inconsistency between the Old Regulations and these Council Regulations, the Old Regulations shall prevail, except for any provisions governing elections for or appointments to positions on Council commencing on or after the Effective Date, in which case the provisions of these Council Regulations shall prevail. In the case of any ambiguity in the interpretation of this Council Regulation, the Council shall make the final determination.

² 1 October 2016, as defined by Bye-law 3.